O.A. 3-8-91 0 47 w/app.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

CLERK SUPPEME TOU

DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 77,308; 77,309; 77,310; 77,311 & 77,312

REAL PROPERTY, ETC.,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KEZTH VANDEN DOOREN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0209260

DIANA K. BOCK ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

JEANNE CLOUGHER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-9105

COUNSELS FOR APPELLANT

PARKER THOMPSON
SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Department of Law Enforcement, was the Plaintiff in the trial court and will be referred to herein as either the "Appellant" or by proper name. Appellee, Real Property, etc., was the Respondent in the trial court, and will be referred to as either "Appellee" or by proper name.

There is no record on appeal prepared as of yet for this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 15, 1990, Charles M. DeCarlo and David Nelson were arrested as the result of drug trafficking activities in a reverse sting operation conducted by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and the Levy County Sheriff's Department centered around the importation of approximately 250 kilos of cocaine in violation of Chapter 893, Fla. Stat. On May 16, 1990, Judge Benjamin M. Tench issued seizure warrants under Chapters 893 and 932, Florida Statutes, for the seized real properties which are the subject of the underlying forfeiture actions in the lower court. Subsequent to the issuance of the Rules To Show Cause, Charles M. DeCarlo and David Nelson were tried and convicted on all criminal charges.

On or about July 16, 1990, and during early August, 1990, Judge Benjamin M. Tench issued Orders of Rule To Show Cause based upon a prima facie showing of probable cause. On August 6, 1990, Claimants Charles M. DeCarlo, Cedar Key Campsites, Inc., Cedar Key Hunting and Game Preserve, Inc., Cedar Key Flying Club, Inc., Cedarwood Estates, Inc. and Cedar Key Mobile Home Village, Inc., filed their Amended Notices of Intent To Claim A Security Or Other Interest In Property Sought To Be Forfeited in response to Petitioner's Amended Petitions For Rule To Show Cause filed on May 24, 1990, July 16, 1990, and July 27, 1990.

On September 28, 1990, Claimants filed their Motions To Dismiss Petitions For Forfeiture And To Quash Rules To Show Cause. Subsequently on October 1, 1990, Claimants filed their Amended Motions To Dismiss Petitions For Forfeiture And To Quash Rules To Show Cause. Hearing was held before Judge Benjamin M. Tench on November 4, 1990, in Bronson, Levy County, Florida on the Amended Motions To Dismiss. For purposes of this hearing the court consolidated the Motions and arguments.

On December 21, 1990, Judge Benjamin M. Tench issued an Order and Opinion Granting Claimants' Amended Motions To Dismiss Petitions For Forfeiture.

On December 26, 1990, Petitioner filed its Notice of Appeal with the First District Court of Appeals. On January 3, 1991, Petitioner filed its Motion For Consolidation On Appeal. On January 7, 1991, Petitioner filed its Amended Motion To Consolidate. On January 10, 1991, Appellees filed their Joint Response To Amended Motion For Consolidation On Appeal.

On January 7, 1991, Appellees filed their Joint Suggestion of Certification to the Supreme Court of Florida. On January 7, 1991, Appellant filed its Response To Appellees Joint Suggestion of Certification to the Supreme Court of Florida. On January 29, 1991, this Court issued its Order Requiring Immediate Resolution. On February 1, 1991, the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Florida

notified its receipt of the certified judgment of the trial court.

On February 5, 1991, this Court issued its Order Accepting Jurisdiction, Establishing Briefing Schedule and Setting Oral Argument, consolidating the cases on appeal for expedited review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in his findings and conclusions that the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act of 1989 is facially unconstitutional. The manifest intent of the Legislature was that the Act be civil in nature. Nor is the forfeiture remedy so punitive in purpose or in effect that it overrides the primary intent of the Legislature to create a remedial, nonpunitive, civil sanction. Moreover, the procedures applicable to such in rem civil proceedings are those regularly prescribed by the rules and law as applicable to such proceedings and likewise applicable for the 1989 Act. Finally, the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act of 1989 gives fair notice to a person of ordinary intelligence that any real property interest, in its entirety, is forfeitable if used in violation of the Act.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THE FLORIDA CONTRABAND FORFEITURE ACT (SECTIONS 932.701-704, FLA. STAT. (1989)), UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

A. HISTORY AND NATURE OF FORFEITURE AT COMMON LAW.

At English common law there existed two distinct types of forfeiture. First, and most frequent, was a forfeiture imposed as a penalty upon a defendant's conviction of a criminal offense. The convicted defendant forfeited all his real and personal property based upon the breach of the criminal law and as offense to the King's peace. Additionally, the common law recognized the penalty of seizure, which was a civil forfeiture derived from the theory of deodand. Deodand required forfeiture of the value of an inanimate object directly or indirectly causing death of a person, whether done intentionally or accidentally, and without regard to the guilt or innocence of the owner of the object. Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., 416 U.S. 663, 680-4 (1974), and authorities cited therein. "Although the deodand vanished from English law, the ascription of personality to offending objects persisted into the modern law of civil forfeiture." United States v. Certain Real Property and Premises Known as 38 Whalers Cove Drive, Babylon, New York, 747 F. Supp. 173, 177 (E.D. N.Y. 1990). See also, J.W. Goldsmith, Jr. v.

<u>United States</u>, 254 U.S. 505, 510-11, 41 S.Ct. 189, 190-91, 65 L.Ed. 376 (1921).

Modern approaches to civil seizure adopted the deodand rationale's that an instrumentality or object used to commit an offense is "guilty." Today, civil forfeitures are in rem proceedings brought against property, rather than the wrongdoer, based on the legal fiction that the property is "quilty." In rem proceedings are treated as civil actions, in which the moving party must prove its case by a preponderance of the evidence. However, a number of forfeiture statutes require a showing of probable cause for instituting the lawsuit and then shift the burden to the party claiming any interest in the property. See, e.g., 19 U.S.C. §1615 and 21 U.S.C. §881. Under the majority view, neither conviction of the wrongdoer, nor postponement of forfeiture of the subject property until disposition of the case, is required in a civil forfeiture. See generally, Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., supra, and Clark, Civil and Criminal Penalties and Forfeitures: A Framework for Constitutional Analysis, 60 Minn. L. Rev. 379-498 (1976).

In contrast, criminal forfeitures are in personam proceedings, instituted only in conjunction with criminal charges against particular defendants. Allegations regarding the forfeitability of property connected with the crimes charged are

forfeiture of the property depends upon conviction of the defendant and, generally, the property may not be seized by the government until after the defendant is adjudged guilty. Any third party claims to the property must be resolved in an ancillary proceeding to perfect title in the government since a criminal forfeiture order is good only against the defendant's interest in the property. Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., supra, and Clark, Civil and Criminal Penalties and Forfeitures: A Framework for Constitutional Analysis, supra.

B. THE CONTRABAND FORFEITURE ACT, AS AMENDED IN 1989, SATISFIES DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

Both the Federal and Florida Constitutions guarantee the concepts of substantive and procedural due process to the citizens of the State of Florida as a safeguard against state actions. Guarantees of procedural due process include notice and an opportunity to be heard and to defend before a competent tribunal vested with jurisdiction of the subject matter of the cause. Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., supra; Bussey v. Legislative Auditing Committee of Legis., 298 So.2d 219, 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), cert. denied, 304 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1974). "The phrase 'due process' when applied to substantive rights as distinguished from procedural rights means that a state or municipality is without right to deprive a person of life, liberty or property by an act having no reasonable relationship

to any proper governmental purpose." State ex rel. Furman v. Searcy, 225 So.2d 430, 433 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969). Accord, Johns v. May, 402 So.2d 1166, 1169 (Fla. 1981).

In dismissing the *in rem* petitions *sub judice*, the trial court essentially ruled that the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act, as amended in 1989, violated the claimants' due process rights because the Act is clearly intended to be penal and criminal rather than remedial and civil. (See Appendix A for Order and Opinion of the trial court). Therefore, the court found the Act must provide the full panoply of constitutional safeguards accorded to criminal defendants, including proof beyond a reasonable doubt in a prior criminal trial and all its incidents. This holding is erroneous.

In determining whether a forfeiture proceeding is civil or criminal in nature, the U.S. Supreme Court has developed the following analysis:

Our inquiry in this regard has traditionally proceeded on two First, we have set out to determine whether Congress, in establishing the penalizing mechanism, indicated either expressly or impliedly a preference for one label or the other. Second, where Congress has indicated an intention to penalty, we have a civil inquired further whether the statutory scheme was so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate that intention.

United States v. One Assortment of 89 Firearms, 465 U.S. 354,
362-63, 104 S.Ct. 1099, 1105, 79 L.Ed.2d 361 (1984)(citing U.S.
v. Ward, 448 U.S. 242, 248, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 2641, 65 L.Ed.2d 742
(1980)). Utilizing this test, Appellant contend the lower court's decision must be reversed.

Legislative Intent

Without question the Florida Legislature intended the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act to be a remedial civil sanction. The Act provides that the seizing agency "shall proceed against the contraband article . . . or real property . . . " Section 932.704(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), thus creating an in rem proceeding to be instituted against the defined property alleged to have been used in violation of the Act. "In contrast to the in personam nature of criminal actions, actions in rem have traditionally been viewed as civil proceedings, with jurisdiction dependent upon seizure of a physical object." United States v. One Assortment of 89 Firearms, 465 U.S. at 363.

Significantly evidence that 1989 Legislature was cognizant of the fact that the proposed amendment was civil in nature appears in discussions concerning the during committee hearings. ¹

The Committee posed the question as to what burden of proof was applicable to the 1989 Amendment to proponents of the bill during a committee hearing and was informed that the lesser civil burden applied. (See Appendix B, p. 5-6).

Furthermore, the Legislature expressly patterned the Act after its federal forfeiture counterpart, 49 U.S.C. §§ 781 and 782. Griffis v. State, 356 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1978). 49 U.S.C. §§ 781 and 782, as well as 21 U.S.C. §881, are substantially similar to Florida's Act and have been consistently found to be civil in rem proceedings. See, e.g., United States v. One 1976 Cadillac Seville, Etc., 477 F.Supp. 879 (E.D. Mich. S.D. 1979); and United States v. One 1973 Pontiac Grand Am, 413 F.Supp. 163 (W.D. Tex. 1976).

The trial court's order indicates that the primarily punitive intent of the Legislature can be demonstrated by this section's "inclusion within Chapter 932, entitled 'Provisions Supplemental to <u>Criminal</u> Procedure'." (Emphasis in original) (Order and Opinion, p. 4). However, this Court has stated:

The arrangement and classification of laws for purposes of codification in the Florida Statutes is an administrative Legislative function of the Joint the Florida Management Committee of Legislature. §11.242, Fla.Stat. (1983). The classification of a law or a part of a law in a particular title or chapter of Florida Statutes is not determinative the issue of legislative intent, though it may be persuasive in certain circumstances. Where there is a question, established principles of statutory construction must be utilized.

State v. Bussey, 463 So.2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1985). Given the fact that: (1) the statutory provisions of the Act have remained substantially the same despite its transference from §893.12, to §943.41 et seq., to its present location in §932.701 et seq., and that: (2) the statute was modeled upon the federal civil forfeiture statutes, the trial court's conclusion that the Legislature intended to make the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act a criminal statute is clearly erroneous.

It is also significant to recognize that the Legislature consciously viewed forfeiture separate and distinct from the criminal penalties contained in Chapter 893, Florida Statutes. The different placement of civil and criminal sanctions has been held to manifest a clear intent by the Legislature to separate the criminal and civil labels of a statute. Helvering v. Mitchell, 58 S.Ct. 630, 303 U.S. 391 (1938); United States v. \$2,500 in United States Currency, 689 F.2d 10, 14 (2d Cir. 1982). Conspicuously absent from the listing of penalties imposed upon violators of Chapter 893 is the forfeiture of contraband.

The trial court also sought to find support for its finding of a primarily punitive legislative intent based on the "Final Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement" of the House of Representatives Committee on Criminal Justice relating to the real property amendment to the Act, which stated that the bill

"contains a harsher and more severe punishment for drug traffickers." (Order and Opinion, pp. 4-5.) While this statement may accurately reflect the conclusion of the Staff, it provides little insight to the intent of the Legislature

Based on the use of a civil federal model, the testimony heard in committee and the plain statutory language, it is abundantly clear that the Legislature intended the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act to create a civil remedy, not a criminal penalty. Therefore, it is necessary to address the second prong of the <u>Ward</u> test to determine whether the statutory scheme of the Act is by the "clearest proof" so punitive either in purpose or effect, as to negate the legislative preference for a civil sanction.

Statutory Effect

The next question which must be addressed is whether the statutory scheme of the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act is so punitive, either in purpose or effect, that it negates the intent of the legislature to create a civil sanction. The Supreme Court has noted that "only the clearest proof could suffice to establish the unconstitutionality of a statute on such a ground." U.S. v. Ward, supra, at 2641. The Supreme Court has post-Ward outlined the following factors to assist in this determination:

"Whether the sanction involves an affirmative disability or restraint, whether it comes into play only on a finding of scienter, whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishretribution and deterrence, whether the behavior to which it applies is already a crime, whether an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it, and whether it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned are all relevant to the inquiry, and may often point in differing directions." Id., at 168-169, 83 S.Ct., at 567-68. (Footnotes omitted). of considerations is, however, list "neither exhaustive nor dispositive." United States v. Ward, 448 U.S. 242, 249, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 2641, 65 L.Ed.2d 742 (1980).

United States v. One Assortment of 89 Firearms, 465 U.S. at 365,
104 S.Ct. at 1106, 79 L.Ed.2d at 361, n. 6 (1984).

Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act has not been The historically regarded as punishment, and no scienter is required to cause a forfeiture under the statute. "The statute makes no attempt to tailor the amount of the loss suffered by forfeiture to the degree of culpability, a strong indication that any punitive effect is incidental." United States v. \$2,500 In United States Currency, supra. Moreover, the State has a strong remedial goal of compensation for its efforts to prevent and mitigate the harms and costs caused by the unlawful use of the property (whether real or personal).

It is unquestionable that Florida possesses some of the worst problems in the nation in dealing with drug related activity. Among the goals sought by the State under the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act are elimination of the instrumentalities used to facilitate a crime, removal of the weapons of the drug trade, prevention of immediate and future personal and economic losses - not to seek retribution or deterrence.

Another goal of the State's Forfeiture Act is to obtain reimbursement of any costs to the State in connection with drug related activity as the harms and costs associated with drug related activities included but are not limited to illicit profits from actual drug sales, severe collateral consequences such as drug addiction, increased drug violence, drug prevention and education, and the State's investigative, enforcement, and incarcerative costs. Indeed, \$932.704(3)(a) of the Act specifically designates how proceeds from sale of forfeited contraband to be applied to such direct and collateral costs:

The proceeds of sale shall be applied: first, to payment of the balance due on any lien preserved by the court in the forfeiture proceedings; second, to payment of the cost incurred by the seizing agency in connection with the storage, maintenance, security, and forfeiture of such property; third, to payment of court costs incurred in the forfeiture proceeding. The remaining proceeds shall be deposited in a special law enforcement trust fund established by the board of county commissioners or the governing body of the municipality, and such proceeds and interest earned therefrom shall be used for school resource officer, crime prevention, or drug education programs or for other law enforcement purposes.

The difference between criminal and civil penalties is examined in <u>United States ex rel. Marcus v. Hess</u>, 317 U.S. 537, 63 S.Ct. 379 (1943):

[I]t has frequently been held that one important difference between criminal and civil penalties is that the former is primarily punitive or deterrent in purpose - calculated to 'vindicate public justice,' - while civil penalties are primarily remedial and designed to "protect the government from financial loss.

Accord, United States v. A Parcel of Land With A Building Located Thereon At 40 Moon Hill Road, Northbridge, Massachusetts, 884 F.2d 41, 43 (1st Cir. 1989). The drug trade has generated costs to government that are immeasurable. Drugs touch the lives of everyone, it is not an isolated disease affecting the few. The forfeiture laws were clearly designed to address all these myriad ills.

All "sanctions" are necessarily "penal" to some degree, but the <u>primary</u> purpose of the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act serve broad remedial, non-punitive, purposes. Cf. <u>United States</u>

v. D.K.G. Appaloosas, Inc., 829 F.2d 532, 544 (5th Cir. 1987);
 United States v. 26.075 Acres, Located in Swift Creek Tp., 687
 F.Supp. 1005, 1013 (E.D. N.C. 1988).

Whether the amount or intent of personal and real property forfeited in a particular case is violative of some constitutional guarantee depends upon the application of the facts to the specific constitutional right asserted. However, such application issues are premature in the case sub judice. In any event, courts have approved the forfeiture of large tracts of real property based upon much less criminal activity than alleged here. See, e.g., United States v. 26.075 Acres, Located in Swift Creek Tp., supra, (five sales of cocaine totaling 12 grams); United States v. Santoro, 866 F.2d 1538 (4th Cir. 1989)(four sales of cocaine totaling 12.8 grams resulting in forfeiture of 26 acres, including residence).

It might appear that the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act applies to behavior that is already a crime. However, this is not a situation where the criminal statute permits both criminal and civil penalties to be levied for the same criminal offense. Instead, the Act applies its forfeiture sanction to much broader conduct than a particular felony or drug offense. This includes the transporting, concealing, possessing (or the use of property to facilitate to transport, conceal or possess) a contraband

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