SID J. WHITE FEB /2 COURT CLERK By. Cierk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NOS.:

REAL PROPERTY, ETC.,

Appellees.

77,308; 77,309; 77,310; 77,311; 77,311; (consolidated)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

CERTIFIED FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, AS A MATTER OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE, REQUIRING IMMEDIATE RESOLUTION BY THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

> ROBERT S. GRISCTI 204 West University Ave., Suite 6 Post Office Box 508 Gainesville, FL 32602 904/375-4460 Florida Bar # 300446

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

If this Court determines that it can and should remedy the Act's deficiencies, then at least minimal procedural due process guarantees should be provided to the Appellees and other property owners who are claimants to property the State seeks to forfeit. These constitutional and procedural protections include a burden of proof on the State at all times throughout forfeiture proceedings, by a standard of proof commensurate with the punitive and at least quasi-criminal nature of the Act. Additionally, this Court should require some form of judicial review, even if ex parte, before real property is seized by law enforcement officers. Such protection particularly is appropriate in Florida because of Article I, Section 2 of the Declaration of Rights, which, in conjunction with Article I, Section 9, mandates greater constitutional protection for

property owners than that which has been provided under the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act to date.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

A constitutional analysis of the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act requires a brief overview of general forfeiture law and the legislative history of the Act. This review supplements the historical analysis of forfeiture in the AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, pp. 6-8.

As noted by one commentator, "[f]orfeitures have a long and dark past, yet they continue to be a powerful force in seizing property used in violation of the law." Comment, <u>State</u> and <u>Federal Forfeiture of Property Involved in Drug</u> <u>Transactions</u>, 92 Dickinson L.Rev. 461, 481 (1988). Forfeitures are "harsh exactions" that are not favored at law. <u>City of</u> <u>Miami v. Miller</u>, 148 Fla. 349, 4 So.2d 369, 370 (1941). As noted by the Appellant, the original form of civil forfeiture recognized at common law, the "deodand," was removed from the English law because of its severity [AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, p. 7].

Nonetheless, forfeitures found their way into the Federal statutory scheme at an early point in American history. Civil penalties and forfeitures, particularly in the context of customs and commerce regulations, were an essential source of Federal revenue in the early years of the Republic. <u>See</u>

generally D. Smith, Prosecution and Defense of Forfeiture Cases ¶11.03[2], pp. 1-13 & n.16 (1990). The first Congress provided for forfeitures in Section 36 of the Act of July 31, 1789, 1 That first Federal statute specifically Stat. 29, 47-48. provided for the right to jury trial in forfeiture proceedings, a right deprived the American colonists (but not subjects in England) before the American Revolution.¹ Yet that same Federal legislation put the burden of proof in a Federal customs forfeiture proceeding on claimants to the property, rather than on the Government, to stave off sympathetic jury verdicts for customs violators in a new nation that relied for its revenue on the customs laws but was still strongly anti-Federalist. Hence, the Federal customs law contains procedural aspects, including an unusual burden of proof on the claimant (19 U.S.C. §1615), that are preserved as "vestiges of 'old, forgotten, far-off things and battles long ago.'" United States v. One 1976 Mercedes Benz 2805, 618 F.2d 453, 461 (7th Cir. 1980).

As in many other State jurisdictions, Florida adopted its first contraband forfeiture act to provide State law enforcement with an additional weapon for the enforcement of the new Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act. This original forfeiture legislation was codified in Section 893.12, Florida Statutes (1973), enacted by the Legislature as

¹The Declaration of Independence decried the Crown and the English Parliament "For depriving us, in many cases, of the Benefits of Trial by Jury."

Section 12 of Chapter 73-331, Laws of Florida. Chapter 73-331 was a substantial adoption of the primary provisions of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act approved by the National Conference of Commissioners of Uniform State Laws in 1970. In 1974, the Legislature enacted Chapter 74-385, §1, Laws of Section 893.12 Florida, excising from those procedural provisions of the original forfeiture act which became the basis for the Florida Uniform Contraband Transportation Act, Sections 943.41 through 943.44, Florida Statutes (1974 Supp.). Thereafter, the Legislature substantially amended the provisions of Sections 943.41 through 943.44 in Chapter 80-68, Laws of Florida, including the Act's title, which became the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act.²

The 1989 amendment broadened the scope of derivative contraband forfeiture beyond any prior Florida legislation.³ Not only is real property subject to forfeiture; the amended Act authorizes the forfeiture of "proceeds" of criminal activity

²This legislative history is tracked by this Court in Duckham v. State, 478 So.2d 347, 349 (Fla. 1985) and Griffis v. State, 356 So.2d 297, 299-301 (Fla. 1978). The Legislature has amended the Act on numerous occasions since 1980, the most substantial of which are found in the 1989 amendment in Chapter 89-148, Laws of Florida.

³The real property forfeiture provisions are broader than those contemplated by the seldom-used provisions of §895.05, Fla. Stat. (1989). While §895.05(2)(a) provides for the forfeiture of real property "used in the course of, intended for use in the course of, derived from, or realized through conduct in violation of a provision of ss. 895.01-.05," the State must still prove a "pattern of racketeering activity" as a predicate to forfeiture.

(Section 932.701(2)(e)) and permits the State to seek "substitute forfeiture" (Section 932.703(1)(a)-(e)).

The 1989 Act substantially broadened the scope of forfeiture, but it failed to drag these proceedings out of the "procedural quagmires" created by "the failure of the statute to provide measures to be followed other than to say '* * * by rule to show cause in the circuit court.'" <u>In re forfeiture of \$5,300.00</u>, 429 So.2d at 801-02.

Sections 932.703 and 932.704, Florida Statutes (1989) contain what little procedural guidance has been provided by the Legislature under the Act since its inception. Section 932.703(1) provides, in relevant part, that property used in violation of Section 932.702 and any contraband per se (for example, illegal drugs) "may be seized" by a law enforcement agency; that title to seized property shall immediately vest in the State upon seizure, "subject only to perfection of title, rights and interest in accordance with this act"; that no action, including replevin, can be maintained to recover seized property unless forfeiture proceedings are not initiated within 90 days after seizure; and that there is a rebuttable presumption of forfeiture that the property seized was being "used or was intended to be used in a manner to facilitate the transportation, [etc.] ... of a contraband article" defined under Section 932.701(2). Sections 932.703(2) and (3) provide for innocent owners and lienholders, respectively.

Section 932.704(1) is the Act's primary procedural paragraph. It empowers the State Attorney in the jurisdiction in which the property is seized to "promptly proceed" against the property by "rule to show cause" in the Circuit Court of the jurisdiction in which the seizure or offense occurred. The property is forfeited to the seizing law enforcement agency "upon producing due proof" that the contraband property "was being used in violation of the provisions of this act." The final order of forfeiture by the Court perfects title in the seizing law enforcement agency, relating back to the date of seizure.

Finally, Section 932.704(2) provides that the State Attorney must give notice of the forfeiture proceedings by actual or constructive service "at least four weeks prior to filing the rule to show cause." The notice must include "the name of the court in which the proceeding will be filed and the anticipated date for filing the rule to show cause." Thereafter, Sections 932.704(3)-(5) and Section 932.705 provide very explicit guidance for the sale and distribution of forfeiture proceeds.

Except for the 1985 amendment to the Act⁴, which provided

⁴Ch. 85-316, Laws of Fla., took effect just prior to the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Lamar v. Universal Supply Company, Inc., 479 So.2d 109 (Fla. 1985), which interpreted the "promptly proceed" provisions of §932.704(1), Fla. Stat. (1983). The same legislation also made it clear that, while law enforcement agencies have discretion whether to seize property for forfeiture, once seized the property "shall" be forfeited.

the 90-day period to initiate forfeiture proceedings, the Legislature has never provided additional procedural guidance for the conduct of forfeiture proceedings beyond the terms outlined above, all of which were contained in the original legislation. This is so despite judicial criticism of the procedural deficiencies of the Act.

In apparent frustration with the "procedural void left by a bareboned statutory scheme," <u>Doersam v. Brescher</u>, 468 So.2d 427, 428 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the Fourth District Court of Appeal announced substantive and procedural rules for practice under the Act which are, admittedly, "omitted specifics which due process necessitates." <u>In re forfeiture of \$5,300.00</u>, 429 So.2d at 802. In that decision and in <u>In re forfeiture of \$48,900.00</u>, 432 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), the Fourth District created numerous forfeiture rules of procedure ranging from a requirement that the seizing agency file a verified petition for rule to show cause, to the burden and quantum of proof to be used in proceedings under the Act.⁵

Section 932.703(1). This amendment was in apparent response to the decision in Smith v. Hindery, 454 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, In re forfeiture of 1978 Chevrolet Van, 493 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1986), in which the 1st DCA held that, because forfeiture statutes are not favored in law or in equity, the judicial decision whether to forfeit is discretionary and not mandatory. 454 So.2d at 664.

⁵Other District Courts have adopted the Fourth District's porocedure. The burden and standard of proof chosen by the Fourth District is drawn from 19 U.S.C. §1615. <u>Infra</u>, pp. 44-45.

The Fourth District has expressed concern over the practical and constitutional ramifications of the procedural and substantive guidelines that it has provided, particularly in light of this Court's recent decision in <u>In re forfeiture of 1978 Chevrolet Van</u>, 493 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1986) that jury trial is available in forfeiture proceedings. <u>See, e.g., In re forfeiture of 1982 Park Avenue Buick</u>, 505 So.2d 535, 536 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The instant appeal presents this Court with the opportunity to address those concerns and, most importantly, the constitutional deficiencies of the Act.

Issue I

THE TRIAL COURT'S HOLDING THAT THE FLORIDA CONTRABAND FORFEITURE ACT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL SHOULD BE AFFIRMED, BECAUSE THAT ACT IS CRIMINAL IN NATURE AND FAILS TO PROVIDE SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS TO THE APPELLEES, IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The initial constitutional inquiry in construing this Act is whether forfeiture under the statute is, in nature, a punishment for which constitutional safeguards relative to criminal proceedings should apply. The test by which to determine the nature of a forfeiture penalty is provided in <u>Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez</u>, 372 U.S. 144, 83 S.Ct. 554, 9 L.Ed.2d 644 (1963). <u>See also United States v. Ward</u>, 448 U.S. 242, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 65 L.Ed.2d 742 (1980). That test is concise:

First, did the Legislature which enacted the statute indicate directly or impliedly whether the penalties were deemed civil or criminal. Secondly, if the Legislature indicated that the penalties were civil and remedial in nature, are the penalties so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate that intention?

<u>United States v. Ward</u>, 448 U.S. at 249. A finding that the Legislature manifested its intent that the Act be a punitive sanction concludes the constitutional inquiry. It is then unnecessary to explore the second prong of the analysis. <u>Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez</u>, 372 U.S. at 167.

Using the United States Supreme Court's test, the trial Court found that the Legislature has indicated its preference that the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act is punitive and therefore criminal in nature. [Order and Opinion, RECORD ON APPEAL, pp. 316-18]. That legislative intent is manifested objectively:

> [E]vidence of the punitive intent of the 1989 forfeiture legislation is identified by its within inclusion 932, entitled Chapter "Provisions Supplemental to Criminal Procedure Law" (emphasis added) as well as the "Final Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement" of the House of Representatives Committee on Criminal Justice, which accompanied the passage of the 1989 real property amendment to the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act. That Statement notes '[t]his bill [SB 354, passed by the that Legislature and enrolled as Ch. 89-148, Laws of Florida] ... contains a harsher and more severe punishment for drug traffickers" (emphasis added).

[Order and Opinion, RECORD ON APPEAL, pp. 316-17].

The Appellant argues that placement or classification of the Act is not dispositive of legislative intent. Certainly, as this Court recognized in State v. Bussey, 463 So.2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1985), that classification "is not determinative on the issue of legislative intent," but that placement "may be persuasive in certain circumstances." Id. (emphasis added). Those circumstances are present with the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act, which derives from Chapter 893, the Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act. The forfeiture Act is a criminal code which both derives from and supplements Chapter 893. See In re forfeiture of \$37,388.00, 16 F.L.W. 43 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 17, 1990), in which the Court noted that "[t]he forfeiture law is supplemental to the criminal procedure law ... [and] ... is penal in nature " Id. That is precisely what the trial Court correctly concluded from the Act's classification. Under State v. Bussey, supra, this evidence is certainly persuasive of a punitive legislative intent.

The Appellant also criticizes the trial Court's reliance on the "Final Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement" of the House of Representatives Committee on Criminal Justice, arguing that the Staff Statement "provides little insight to the intent of the Legislature" [AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT,

p. 13].⁶ To the contrary, in <u>In re forfeiture of \$7,750.00</u>, 546 So.2d 1128 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), the Second District Court of Appeal specifically recognized that legislative staff analyses are probative of legislative intent. <u>Id</u>. at 1130. This is logical; legislative staff are responsible for executing legislative intent by researching, drafting and reviewing the bills that become legislation.

The plain language of the Act also provides persuasive evidence of the Legislature's intent that the Act serve primarily as a a penal measure. The plain meaning of statutory language is a primary factor in determining legislative intent. <u>St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Co. v. Hamm</u>, 414 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982). The language of the forfeiture Act demonstrates a legislative intent that forfeiture is an intrinsic statutory measure in the State's enforcement of its criminal laws.

For example, the Act provides that contraband forfeiture is to be enforced solely by law enforcement agencies in this State. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Section 932.703(1), Florida Statutes (1989), which provides that property subject to forfeiture should be seized by law enforcement agencies; Section 932.704(1), Florida

⁶The Appellant also argues that contrary evidence of legislative intent is found in the transcript of committee hearings, attached as Appendix B to the Appellant's brief [AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, p. 10 & n.1]. This unauthenticated transcript excerpt was not presented to the trial Court, is not part of the RECORD ON APPEAL and should not be considered for the first time on appeal. <u>See</u> the APPELLEES' MOTION TO STRIKE filed contemporaneously with this ANSWER BRIEF.

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